IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WARFIELD RAYMOND WIKE,

Appellant,

FILED THOMAS D. HALL FEB 19 2001 CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

vs.

Case No. SC00-2141

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, WARFIELD RAYMOND WIKE

On Direct Appeal from a Final Order Rendered on September 27, 2000, by the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit, in and for Santa Rosa County, Florida, Hon. Paul A. Rasmussen, Presiding, in Case No. 88-547-CF, Denying the Defendant's Motion to Vacate and Set Aside His Judgments and Sentences, including a Death Sentence, filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Warfield Raymond Wike, appellant, was the defendant in Santa Rosa County Circuit Court Case No. 88-547-CF below. He will be referred to here as "Mr. Wike" or "the defendant." The State of Florida, appellee, will be referred to as "the state."

The record on appeal regarding the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 proceeding is in six volumes.

There are three numbered volumes. By "numbered" we mean that the Clerk of the Circuit Court has marked the cover page of these volumes with a Roman numeral. Numbered Volume I contains the pleadings. Numbered Volumes II and III contain the trial court's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Vacate And Set Aside Judgments and Sentences, the exhibits (they are voluminous) attached thereto and certain other post-hearing pleadings and documents. Reference to this portion of the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by a page number appearing at the bottom right-hand corner of each page, for example, "R 12."

An unnumbered fourth and fifth volumes of the record on appeal contain the transcript of the April 19, 2000 evidentiary hearing on the defendant's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion. To avoid confusion, when

vii

referring to those evidentiary hearing transcripts, we use the letters "EH" followed by a page number appearing in the lower right hand corner of each page, for example, "EH 40." This "EH" designation is the same used by the trial court in its order denying that Rule 3.850 motion.

A separate volume contains the transcript of the November 8, 1999 <u>Huff</u> hearing held in this cause.

The exhibits introduced in evidence during the evidentiary hearing are in two boxes. Each exhibit will be referenced by the number given it by the trial court when the exhibit was introduced in evidence during that 3.850 hearing, followed by a generic description of that exhibit. This will be done in order to distinguish these exhibits from those attached to the trial court's order denying the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion.

All emphasis is added by us unless indicated otherwise.

viii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings Below including Disposition in the Lower Tribunal and Statement on Jurisdiction

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida from a final order of the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit of Florida dated September 27, 2000, denying the defendant's motion to vacate and set aside his judgments and sentences, including death sentences, filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. On October 12, 1988, the defendant was indicted by a Santa Rosa County, Florida Grand Jury and charged with the following felony crimes:

Count I - first degree premeditated murder of Sara Rivazfar;

Count II - felony murder of Sara Rivazfar; Count III - kidnapping of Sara Rivazfar; Count IV - kidnapping of Sayeh Rivazfar; Count V - sexual battery of Sayeh Rivazfar; Count VI - attempted premeditated murder of Sayeh Rivazfar; and

Count VII - attempted felony murder of Sayeh Rivazfar.

The First Trial

Jury trial commenced in Milton, Santa Rosa County, Florida on June 13, 1989, the Hon. Ben Gordon, Circuit Judge, presiding. The defendant testified in his own behalf during the trial. At the conclusion of the jury trial, the defendant was found guilty on all counts. An advisory penalty phase proceeding per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, as to Counts I and II, began the day after the guilty verdicts were returned. The jury recommended the death sentence as to Counts I and II¹ by a vote of 9-3. The defendant was thereafter, on July 13, 1989, sentenced to death by the trial court as to Counts I and II (premeditated murder in the first degree and felony murder, respectively) and to terms of incarceration on the remaining counts, to run concurrently with the death sentences.

On July 14, 1989, the defendant filed a timely notice of appeal in the circuit court to the Supreme Court of Florida. Upon consideration of the appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions as to all counts, affirmed the sentences as to Counts III-VII, but reversed and remanded regarding the death sentences imposed in Counts I and II due to the failure of the trial court to grant the defendant a continuance of the penalty phase portion of the capital proceeding. <u>See Wike v.</u> <u>State,</u> 596 So. 2d 1020 (Fla. 1992).

¹ There is some confusion regarding whether the defendant was effectively given two death sentences; that is, regarding Counts I (charging first degree premeditated murder) and II (charging felony murder). See, for example, Wike v. State, 596 So. 2d at 1020 (Fla. 1992), where this Court references merely a "sentence of death." This would seem to indicate that the defendant could have only been sentenced to death as to Count I -- not Count II. Out of an abundance of caution, however, the defendant specificially sought and continues to seek to have set aside any and all convictions, judgments and sentences, including death sentences, imposed against him.

The Second (Penalty Phase Only) Trial

In December 1992, a second penalty phase trial with a different judge and jury was held in circuit court again in Milton. At the conclusion of that trial, the jury unanimously (12-0) recommended that the death penalty be imposed. The trial court, Hon. Paul A. Rasmussen, Circuit Judge, following the jury's advisory opinion, sentenced the defendant to death. After filing a timely notice of appeal of the death sentence(s) imposed in the second trial, this Court, on November 23, 1994, in <u>Wike v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 1994), reversed the trial court's imposition of the death sentence(s) because the defendant had been denied the right, per Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.780(c), to make the closing argument during the penalty phase of the trial. Rehearing was denied on January 25, 1995.

The Third (Penalty Phase Only) Trial

In a third penalty phase trial with Judge Rasmussen presiding, again in Milton, a new jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of 12-0. The trial court followed the recommendation and sentenced Mr. Wike to death. An appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida followed. In <u>Wike v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1997), this Honorable Court, on July 17, 1997, affirmed the death sentence. The defendant filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. That petition was denied on January 12, 1998. In Supreme Court of Florida Case Nos. 82,322, 23 FLW S363 (6/25/98), and/or 92,026, 23 FLW S363 (6/25/98), the court

tolled the time for Mr. Wike to file a post conviction motion to vacate his judgments and sentences per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851 -- and the time for making a public records demand per Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852 through and until October 1, 1999.

The Postconviction Proceedings in the Trial Court

On January 8, 1999, the defendant filed with the trial court a complete, 15-claim (R 12-57) Motion to Vacate and Set Aside Judgments and Sentences per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure $3.850.^2$ (R 1-105) On January 14, 1999, the trial court ordered the state to file a response. (R 106) On April 13, 1999, the state served a response to the 3.850 motion. (R 107-122) On November 8, 1999, the trial court conducted a <u>Huff</u> hearing in order to determine which of the 15 claims set forth in the 3.850 motion required an evidentiary hearing. On March 6, 2000, the trial court rendered an order determining that six of the claims required an evidentiary hearing. The six claims were:

S Claim VII -- Failure to move to suppress illegal search and seizure;

S Claim VIII -- Failure to investigate witnesses and present alibi witnesses;

S Claim IX -- Failure to move for change in venue;

S Claim X -- Failure to object to absence of Defendant at critical stages of trial;

² Claim XV is mislabeled on pages 56 and 57 of the 3.850 motion as Claim XIII.

S Claim XI -- Failure to have the defendant present at side bar conferences; and

S Claim VIX -- Failure to present a proper case with regard to the third penalty phase trial.

(See Exhibit A attached to Order (R 195-389) denying 3.850 motion.)

On April 19, 2000, the trial court presided at an allday evidentiary hearing regarding those claims. On September 27, 2000, the trial court rendered a final order denying the 3.850 motion on the merits. (R 195-537) On that same day, within just a few hours after the Order denying the 3.850 motion was rendered, the defendant filed a timely notice of appeal in the circuit court to this Honorable Court. (R 538)

Statement on Jurisdiction

This is a direct appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit of Florida rendered on September 27, 2000 (R 195-389), Hon. Paul A. Rasmussen presiding, which denied the defendant's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion to vacate the judgments of guilt and sentences, including the death sentence(s), rendered against him. This Honorable Court has jurisdiction per the provisions of Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution; and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(g), which provides, in part, that

"(a)n appeal (from the denial of a 3.850 motion^3) may be taken to the appropriate appellate court from an order entered on the motion as from a

³ Words in parentheses added.

final judgment on application for writ of habeas corpus."

<u>See Demps v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1987).

The Basic Facts of the Case as Reported in part by the Supreme Court of Florida in <u>Wike v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1020 (Fla. 1992)

The facts as found by the Supreme Court of Florida in Wike v. State, 596 So. 2d 1020 (Fla. 1992), reflect that, at approximately 6:30 a.m. on September 22, 1988, a couple found eight- year old Sayeh Rivazfar alongside a rural road in Santa Rosa County. Sayeh was waving one hand and held the other to her throat. The couple noticed that Sayeh's throat was cut and immediately drove her to a store to call for help. During the drive, Sayeh told the couple that a man had She said that the man had taken her and her sister cut her. from their home and to the woods where he cut her throat and killed her six-year old sister, Sarah. After the couple questioned Sayeh about the vehicle, Sayeh was asked if she knew anyone with that type of car, and Sayeh told them that it belonged to a man named Ray. Later at the hospital, it was determined that Sayeh suffered a cut throat and two lacerations to her vagina which were consistent with forced penetration.

A search for Sarah Rivazfar began shortly after Sayeh was found. Sarah's body was found in the woods about seventy-five feet from the dirt road where Sayeh was picked up. Sarah's hands were tied behind her back and her throat had been cut. Crime scene technicians recovered several

items of evidence from three separate locations near the area where the body was found. These included pieces of shirt material, tire tracks and blood stains. Based upon the information investigators gathered from Sayeh and her mother, they determined that the man named Ray was a suspect. Officers immediately went to the residence of Alice Ober, Mr. Wike's mother. From neighbors, they learned that an elderly couple, a thirty-year old man, and a child lived in the house. They also learned that the elderly man was confined to a wheelchair. Parked in front of the house was an older model green Dodge automobile with a dent on the side, which fit the description given by Sayeh and her mother as being Wike's car. A computer check revealed that the car was registered to Raymond Wike. Although no one answered when an officer rang the front doorbell, another officer heard movement inside. The officers had the dispatcher call the house. A man named "Ray" answered. He was warned to come outside with his hands on his head or else. When he did, the officers arrested him on the spot. Then the officers conducted a sweep of the house to determine if there were other occupants. After the sweep, the officers obtained a search warrant, searched the house and the car, and seized several items of evidence from each. The automobile was also seized.

Mr. Wike was indicted for murder, attempted murder, sexual battery, and kidnapping. Counts I and II charged premeditated murder and felony murder, respectively, for the

death of Sarah. Counts III and IV charged the kidnapping of Sarah and Sayeh. Count V charged sexual battery of Sayeh, and Counts VI and VII charged attempted premeditated murder and attempted felony murder of Sayeh.

At trial, Patricia Rivazfar, the girls' mother, testified that she and her children had known Ray Wike for a little over a year. Evidence seized from Wike and his vehicle established that:

Semen stains from a type "A" secretor were found on the torn pink bathing suit found in the car;

S A child's sock found on or in the car had type "0" blood stains, matching Sayeh's type;

S The car seat material had type "O" blood stains, as did the underpants that Sayeh wore;

§ Other blood stains matching Sarah's type "O" blood were found on the pine needles obtained from the scene where Sarah's body was located, on a tennis shoe (a single drop), and on a blue blanket seized from the carport at the defendant's parents' residence; and

§ Wike, being a type "A" secretor, could have contributed to the semen stains found on various items in the car.

Further DNA testing of the blue blanket identified the type "O" blood found as coming from Sayeh. Additionally, a hair expert testified via videotape that, from a piece of torn material found at the scene, she found two head hairs that were consistent with Wike's hair. She also testified

that two pubic hairs consistent with Wike's were found, and that other head hairs were found consistent with the hair of Sarah and Sayeh, on the blue blanket. An unidentified bleached hair was found clutched in one of Sarah's hands. A single head hair consistent with Wike's was found on both Sarah's and Sayeh's underpants.

Fingerprint evidence was presented that established that two palm prints matching Sayeh's were found on the trunk of Wike's car. One of these prints was made in blood or a substance of a high protein content. Two palm prints (in the position that hands would be expected to make in closing the trunk) matching Wike's were located on the edge of the trunk. These prints were also made in a substance of high protein content. An expert in tire track comparisons testified that plaster casts and photographs of the tire tracks found at the scene matched the tires from Wike's car.

Sayeh testified that she and Sarah went to bed on September 21, 1988, around 8:00 p.m. She explained that they both wore their clothes to bed since they were sometimes late for the bus in the morning. She stated that she woke up in a car parked in front of her house and that she thought she recognized the man's voice as her mother's friend, Ray. Since she was not fully awake, she went back to sleep. Furthermore, she stated that the man put Sarah in the back seat of the car and, when she asked for her mother, he told her that her mother was coming. Sayeh remembered traveling on a paved road which then turned into a dirt road. Sayeh

also stated that when they stopped, the man raped her on the trunk of the car. Afterwards, they got back into the car and proceeded to a different location, where they stopped again and walked in the woods. At that point, the man pulled a knife with finger grips on it, told Sayeh to say a prayer, then cut her throat with the knife. She explained that Sarah was screaming and that the man cut her throat and left.⁴

* . * .

Sayeh untied herself and walked along the road. She was found and the nature of her injuries discovered. She also said that "Ray" had cut her. With this information, the police soon went to Wike's house where they arrested him. He denied the kidnappings, the sexual battery, the attempted murder, and the murder.

The Defendant's Version of His Whereabouts and Activities on the Night of September 21, and the Morning of September 22, 1988

Mr. Wike's version of his whereabouts around the time of the homicide and associated crimes of conviction are set forth on pages 10-12 of his Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion. (R 010-012) In essence, Wike stated that he got off work at about 4:00 p.m. on September 21 and went to his mother's residence, where he stayed until about 6:00 p.m. He then went to the RaceTrac convenience store and bought gas. From there he went to Frank Freeman's residence in Milton, Florida. Some time between 9:00 p.m. and 10:00 p.m., the defendant went to the residence of Bob Smith in

⁴ Under no circumstances does the defendant agree with the facts as set out in the Court's decision referenced above.

Pace, Florida. The defendant next went to a bar between Pace and Milton, had a few beers, and left there around 11:00 p.m. or 11:30 p.m. The defendant then went back to the Racetrac convenience store and gas station, where he spoke with one Tara Leonard. Ms. Tanza Raye Smith, 8728 Lynn Road, Milton, Florida, saw the defendant buy gas there and talking with Ms. Leonard. Thereafter, the defendant stopped at a bar ("Fred's") in Milton, Florida, and spoke with Ms. Glenda The defendant next went to the Silver Eagle Lounge Hilliard. in Pensacola until about 1:30 a.m. on the morning of September 22, 1988. While at the Silver Eagle Lounge, he made several (three) phone calls and finally contacted Ms. Angela Faulk Cooper. He then drove his car a short distance down the highway to the Scenic Hills Lounge. At about 1:15 a.m. on the 22nd, Ms. Faulk Cooper picked him up from the Scenic Hills Lounge parking lot and took him to her residence in Pensacola, Florida, where he stayed until about 5:45 a.m., at which time she took him back to the Scenic Hills Lounge where he got his car and then drove back to his parents' residence in Milton. (R 10-12)

Statement of the Facts Presented during the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 Evidentiary Hearing

The first witness to testify during the 3.850 hearing was Mrs. Alice Ober, the defendant's mother.⁵ She testified that in September of 1988 she was living in Santa Rosa County with her husband, Mr. Dallas Ober. (EH 10, 11) She advised

⁵ By agreement of the parties and with the permission of the court, Ms. Ober testified by telephone.

that she was not present when law enforcement officers came to their residence with a search warrant and asked Mr. Ober for permission to search the premises. (EH 11) She added that Mr. Ober could not read or write. (EH 11, 12) She offered, as an example, the fact that she would have to write out checks for him, and he would print his name. (EH 13)

Mrs. Ober indicated that Mr. Wike's trial counsel, Mr. (now Circuit Judge) Terry Terrell, was aware of Mr. Ober's inability to read because, for example, when they (Mr. Terrell, Mr. Ober and Mrs. Ober) were at the Ober residence, Mr. Ober would hand her legal papers Mr. Terrell had for them and she had to read them to Mr. Ober. (EH 13, 14)

Mrs. Ober clarified her testimony on direct by stating that, prior to the hearing on the motion to suppress some of the evidence seized at her residence, she did not inform Mr. Terrell that Mr. Ober could not read. As indicated above, that fact came out only much later, when the Obers were at Mr. Terrell's house prior to the trial and Mr. Ober was not able to read and sign the papers Mr. Terrell had for him. (EH 13) She stated that Mr. Wike had asked Mr. Ober to be present at the hearing on the Motion to Suppress Evidence; however, the state had asked Mr. Ober to stay at home by the phone and that they would call him if they needed him. (EH 21)

Mrs. Ober testified that she was not able to attend the original trial because she had a nervous breakdown. (EH 14) She indicated that the only discussion they (she and her

husband) had with Mr. Wike's attorney was a long meeting (of 10 or 11 hours) just prior to the trial. (EH 14) She stated that there was no discussion regarding Mr. Wike's alibi during that meeting. (EH 15)

Mrs. Ober testified that the child victims and her mother and sister were on a friendly basis with her and her family and visited their residence on several occasions. (EH 15) She added that Ms. Rivazfar and Mr. Wike were dating. (EH 16) She added that Ms. Rivazfar told her that she was in a contested custody battle with her ex-husband, and was afraid of losing her children to him. (EH 19) She said that Ms. Rivazfar told her, "I'd rather see my kids dead before that happens." (EH 19) She stated that she relayed that information to Mr. Terrell. (EH 19)

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