### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WARFIELD RAYMOND WIKE,

Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. SC00-2141

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4583

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

The reason we have required postconviction evidentiary hearings on capital postconviction motions claiming ineffective assistance of counsel is to provide a defendant opportunity to present factual and expert evidence which was not presented at the trial of the case and to have the trial court evaluate and weigh that additional evidence. Following such an evidentiary hearing, we have held that the performance and prejudice prongs are mixed questions of law and fact subject to a de novo review standard but that the trial court's factual findings are to be given deference. <u>See Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1028, 1034 (Fla. 1999). So long as its decisions are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact and, likewise, on the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court. <u>Id.</u> We recognize and honor the trial court's superior vantage point in assessing the credibility of witnesses and in making findings of fact.

<u>Porter v. State</u>, No. SC88562 (Fla. May 3, 2001). Especially given Wike's history of making inconsistent and contradictory statements on almost every subject, the circuit court did not err in concluding that Judge Terrell's testimony is credible and Wike's is not.

Furthermore, as the circuit court recognized, Wike can demonstrate no prejudice because he "has failed to establish that grounds for a change of venue existed" (2R 206). While obviously there was some pretrial publicity in this case, it did not approach the publicity generated in the Danny Rolling case. Rolling v. State, 695 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1997). In fact, other than an extremely brief report in the June 8, 1989 issue of the Milton Press Gazette simply reporting that Wike's case was set for trial the next Monday, the only pretrial newspaper articles Wike has submitted are three articles from the Press Gazette and 5 from the Pensacola News Journal, all published in September and October of 1988, some 8-9 months before trial. Television reports are similarly absent in the months leading up to the trial. Wike has not shown the kind of media saturation as would give rise to any presumption of community Murphy v. Florida, 421 U.S. 794, 95 S.Ct. 2031, 44 prejudice. L.Ed.2d 589 (1975); Oats v. State, 446 So.2d 90, 93 (Fla. 1984).

Nor has Wike demonstrated that a fair and impartial jury was not selected, or that his trial counsels' voir dire examination was inadequate. He contended in his post-hearing memo that his trial

counsel did not ask any questions of trial jurors Hall, Diaferio or Lockett about pretrial publicity during the individual portion of the voir dire examination (1R 149). But Judge Terrell had already determined that these jurors, and, as well, jurors Owen, Outlaw, Volkmann, Foster and Bryant had heard nothing about the crime, when he asked the venire as a whole about publicity (1TT 43-46). As for the extent of Judge Terrell's examination of other jurors, it should be noted that Ms. Sutton had only heard something about the case that morning, from another prospective juror (1TT 197-98; Mr. Conroy had seen something on television the day Wike was arrested, but remembered no details of the accusation against Wike (1TT 163-64); Mr. Mathews had heard people "discussing" the case "sometime ago," but could remember no details other than that two girls had been found murdered (3TT 442); Ms. Dunn had read about the crime when it had first happened, but remembered little other than that the victims had been two girls and an ex-boyfriend had been charged (3TT 465-66); likewise, neither Ms. Meyers nor Mr. Andrews had heard anything about the crime since right after it first happened, and remembered little about the crime (3TT 494, 508).

As the circuit court noted in its order denying relief, of the 75 persons in the entire jury venire, only six indicated they would have difficulty acting as impartial jurors based on their knowledge of the case and these six were all excused for cause (2R 206). None of the jurors actually selected had formed any fixed opinions

of guilt; in fact, only half had heard anything at all about the case (2R 206-07). The circuit court correctly determined that these numbers "fail to demonstrate that the Defendant had substantial difficulty in seating a jury in Santa Rosa County," and that Wike had failed to demonstrate "either a deficient performance by counsel or the probability of a different outcome based on this alleged deficiency (2R 207). Relief was denied properly on this issue.

#### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REJECTED WIKE'S CLAIM THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL WERE INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO DEVELOP AND PRESENT A VIABLE ALIBI DEFENSE

Wike did not address this issue in his post-hearing written argument, but contends on appeal that the circuit court erred in rejecting his claim that trial counsel failed to develop and present a viable alibi defense. It is the State's contention that, in view of Wike's failure to argue this issue below, any complaints about the circuit court's ruling as to the investigation and presentation of potential alibi witnesses has not been preserved for appeal. Moreover, this issue is clearly without merit. Trial counsel did investigate, and investigated thoroughly. Wike's problem is that he never had an alibi and never will, and his trial attorneys were not ineffective for failing to discover and present that which does not exist.

When Wike first talked to the defense team shortly after the murder, he could offer no explanation of his whereabouts after about 1:15 a.m. the morning of the murder, as the taped interviews of 9-27-88 and 9-29-88 show (State's exhibits 3 A&B and 4 A&B). Nor could he explain how Sayeh's bloody fingerprints could have gotten on the trunk of his car "unless I am the guilty person" (PC 217). In fact, when pressed on whether he "did it or not," Wike almost confessed, stating, "I am not saying I didn't, and I'm not saying that I did." State's Exhibit 3B.8

The defense investigated, but could find only what Judge Terrell characterized as "pre alibi" witnesses, that is, witnesses who could only account for Wike's whereabouts before the critical period of time when the crime occurred. No one could testify to Wike's whereabouts after 1:15-1:30 a.m. Moreover, many of these witnesses had uncomplimentary things to say about Wike, including Glenda Hillard, who told Jim Martin that Wike acted "weird and was a strange person" (EH 112), and Terry Schuster, who said Wike seemed "creepy" (EH 125). Present counsel, it must be noted, has done no better; the only witness who have ever been found by anyone who have any idea where Wike was between 1:15-1:30 a.m. and 6:00

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In State's Exhibit 3B, this statement is transcribed differently than in the transcript (EH 224). The State would ask this Court to listen to the tape itself, which is the best evidence of its contents. The State is confident that the tape itself, which shows not only what Wike said, but how he said it, will corroborate its description of Wike's response to being confronted with the evidence against him.

a.m. are Sayeh Rivazfar and Moes Bauldree, and their testimony, to say the least, fails to support any alibi for Mr. Wike (EH 141-42).

The efforts of the defense team were not helped by Wike's purported lack of memory about his whereabouts in the early morning hours of September 22, or the fact that Wike's story evolved as it was "refreshed" by facts uncovered by the defense team (EH 141). For example, although first unable to remember anything after about 1 am, Wike later "remembered" going to the Scenic Hills lounge and passing out; he suggested to his defense team that someone must have borrowed his car and brought it back (EH 115). defense investigation revealed that the owners of the Scenic Hills Lounge do not allow persons who have passed out to remain on the Wike thereafter presented a new alibi to premises (EH 114). defense counsel, shortly before trial, when Wike now claimed to "remember" that he had left his car at the Silver Eagle and had left with Angie Faulk to spend the night with her at her mother's house (EH 110-11). The defense team could not locate Angie Faulk prior to trial, but when they did find her later, she did not corroborate Wike's alibi (PC 115). In fact, defense investigator Jim Martin also talked to Angie's mother, who confirmed that Angie was no longer dating Wike at the time of the murder, that Wike was not welcome at her house, and that she had even told Wike she would call the law on Wike if he came around (EH 116).

Angie Faulk, now Angie Faulk Brown Cooper, testified at the evidentiary hearing. She acknowledged having dated Wike briefly and even having been intimate with him, but she testified that she had told him at least three weeks before the murder that he could not come to her house. At the time of the murder she had not seen Wike in at least two or three weeks. She was "positive" that Wike had not spent the night with her on September 22, 1988, and she had not and could not have come to a bar to pick him up because at the time she did not have a vehicle (EH 85-91). Regardless of why Mr. Wike might think Angie will not corroborate his alibi (EH 47), the fact is she will not now and never would corroborate it.

Moreover, Wike's story does not even make sense. He claimed that Angie came to pick him up because he was too drunk to drive (9ST 871). But, according to him, he called her from the Eagle Lounge and then drove to the Scenic Hills Lounge to meet her (9ST 871). If he was too drunk to drive, why drive from one bar to the other; why not just have Angie pick him up at the Eagle Lounge? And why on earth would someone borrow his car, commit this crime, and return it to the Scenic Hills Lounge in time for Wike to return for it?

And even if Wike could come up with a witness who would be willing to concoct a alibi for him, why would a jury believe it in the face of Sayeh Rivazfar's eyewitness identification of him, Mose Bauldree's testimony, and all the blood, semen, fingerprint, tire

track and DNA evidence incriminating him and no one else, especially when Wike has never been able to explain why he failed to notice the blood all over the inside of his car, on his trunk lid, on his shoes, on his hands, or on the blanket he dragged out of his car and to the laundry room of his parent's house?

Although Wike continues to maintain his innocence, it should be noted that he acknowledged having written a letter in 1996 to the surviving victim in this case in which he had threatened to "confess" that he had been hired by the victim's father to "do this crime" to her and her sister (EH 77-79) State's Exhibit 5.

Wike has not demonstrated any deficient attorney performance in the investigation and presentation of evidence at the guilt phase of his trial. Furthermore, he has not demonstrated any prejudice because he cannot point to any evidence that trial counsel should have discovered and/or presented that could possibly have made any difference in the result of the guilt phase of the trial. Thus, the denial of relief as to this issue should be affirmed.

## ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING WIKE'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO ENSURE THAT WIKE WAS PRESENT AT ALL CRITICAL STAGES OF HIS TRIAL

Here, Wike contends that his trial counsel failed to insure his presence at various portions of the trial, including his

arraignment, three docket calls, the first and second days of his jury selection, and the first and second days of his trial.

The record belies Wike's contention that he was not present for his arraignment. In fact, the court asked him a question and he answered (3R 435-36) (Exhibit E1).

Nothing of any significance occurred at any of the three aforementioned docket calls. No motions were heard and no rulings were made. If Wike was absent, he could not possibly have been prejudiced, and trial counsel were not ineffective for failing to insure his presence at such inconsequential proceedings.

As for the trial itself, the record shows that Wike was present at the very outset of jury selection. Immediately after the prosecutor introduced himself to the jury, he identified Wike and his two attorneys; he even asked Wike to stand (1TT 18).

There was, however, an in-chambers conference immediately prior to the beginning of jury selection, which Wike apparently did not attend, at which defense counsel asked the judge for permission to seat someone other than Wike at the defense table and have Wike in the audience once the presentation of evidence began; the ostensible purpose being to ensure that two eyewitnesses did not identify Wike simply because he sat at counsel table. In addition, defense counsel expressed some concern about publicity and asked that the jury be sequestered. The court reserved ruling on both of

these motions. Counsel and the court also expressed some concern about the size of the panel (1TT 6-15).

Wike did not expressly address his absence from this inchambers conference in his 3.850 motion or his post-hearing memo, and the State would contend that he has failed to preserve such issue for appeal. It is clear, however, that no prejudice has been Especially since the trial court reserved ruling on the issues defense counsel raised, Wike's presence in chambers would not have aided defense counsel in arguing the motions. Thus, any error would have been deemed harmless if this issue had been raised on direct appeal. Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986) (defendant's absence from pretrial conference immediately prior to start of jury selection was harmless since defendant's presence would not have aided defense counsel in arguing the motions, the last of which the trial judge granted and the others of which the trial judge deferred ruling on). That being the case, the circuit court correctly determined that Wike had failed to meet his burden of showing prejudice from any omission of trial counsel to ensure his presence (2R 210).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The State would note that under present Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.180, a defendant is "present" if he is "physically in attendance for the courtroom proceeding, and has a meaningful opportunity to be heard through counsel on the issues being discussed." It is obvious from the transcript of the in-chambers conference that trial counsel had discussed the issues with Wike, and it is by no means clear that he was not "physically in attendance" in the courtroom during the inchambers conference.

As for the alleged absences during the second day of jury selection and at the first and second days of trial, Wike was unable to state in his testimony what, if any, part of any of those days he missed (PC 59-60). Judge Terrell testified that he could not recall Wike being absent during any significant portion of the trial, including jury selection or any part of the trial "relating to the presentation of the issues to the jury were being discussed or presented" (PC 138-39). Had Wike been absent, Judge Terrell would have objected and refused to participate without him being present (PC 139).

In light of this testimony, the circuit court did not err in concluding that trial counsel ensured Wike's presence during the first and second days of the trial and that Wike had not demonstrated that he was absent from any proceedings occurring in the presence of the jury.

The record supports the trial court's rejection of Wike's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure Wike's presence at all critical stages of the trial.

### ISSUE IV

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING WIKE'S CLAIM THAT SENTENCING COUNSEL WERE INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO INCLUDE WIKE IN ALL SIDEBAR CONFERENCES

Here, Wike complains of his absences from sidebar conferences during the voir dire at his third sentencing hearing, citing <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995). Wike conceded below that

this issue could and should have been raised on direct appeal but was not. Wike's post-hearing memo at 18 (1R 140). Therefore this issue is procedurally barred except to the extent that is encompassed within an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Wike must establish (1) deficient attorney performance and (2) actual prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052. 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The defendant must establish both prongs of the test; thus, a court need not address both prongs, but may reject a claim of ineffectiveness after concluding that the defendant failed to establish either deficient attorney performance or prejudice. In this case, the circuit court addressed only the prejudice prong, finding that Wike had failed to demonstrate any prejudice (2R 211-13).

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